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Chairman’s Statement

2011 has been a year of intense activity for the Group with a number of exciting developments.
The Group has focussed strongly on expanding its customer base in the manufacturing,
consulting and logistics sectors, winning new blue-chip cilents and growing significantly in
international markets.

! am pleased to report that the Group has achieved a 7% year on year growth in turnover from
continulng operations with total operating profits up 5% on the same basis. Continuing
operations delivered a profit of £28.7 million broadly simifar to the prior year (2010 - continuing
operations - £29.6m) Borrowings are down and the Group once again generated cash.

During the year the Group has expanded and consolidated its operations in emerging markets including
further investment in the operations based in China and India, and has expanded the overseas footprint
of the Raif customer base by secunng a major contract in Australa to provide maintenance and supply
chain services for passenger vehicles  Significant growth has been achieved within the technology
sector where the logistics services provided to our partners have been expanded to offer innovative
solutions to therr business needs not just within supply chain, but throughout their operations

The UK automotive branch network continued to benefit from the investment made in 2010 in
implementing the Unipart Way and upgrading the qualty of the network The network continued to
witness year on year growth in the Independent Motor Trade resulting in a decision to invest further in
network development and product range extensions Durnng the year, the Group entered into
discussions with H2 Equity Pariners, the owner of a market-leading European distnbutor of automotive
aftermarket parts to explore potential synergies These discussions progressed well and it became clear
that the synergistic epportunities would provide the system scale to support the successful Hub and
Cluster supply chain strategy and access to a much wider range of products and systems This resulted
in H2 Equity Partners acquinng a controlling interest in the UK Automotive branch network on the 30th
September 2011 with the Group retaining a 49 9% share and receiving a cash consideration This has
provided an exciting new development for the Group which should lead to increased profitability going
forward and more resources to focus on the core logistics operations of the Group

The divestment of the UK automotive branch network has had a significant impact on turnover, profit,
assets and liabiities, therefore the results of these operations have been treated as discontinued in the
current and prior years

Including the results of the discontinued operations the Group has made a total operating profit of £8 4m
for the year ended 31 December 2011 a 5% increase over the £8 Om reported last year The transaction
has resulted in a loss on disposal of £257m which i1s reported as an exceptional item within
discontinued operations bnnging the loss before interest and tax attnbutable to discontinued operations
to £46 Om As a result of this loss the Group has made a loss on ordinary activities after tax of £18 7m
for the year (2010 - £3 8m profit)

The Group's overall net debt reduced during the year, benefiting from the proceeds of the disposal and
the continued focus on controlling working capital tn the current economic climate, overall net debt was
£15 8m at 31 December 2011 (2010 - £19 8m)

The Group has re-financed during the year and has a combination of long-term banking facilities that are
committed untl 2013, 2015 and 2018 and continues to mantan sufficient borrowing headroom to
support the future growth of the business

The Group continued to develop and deploy the Unipart Way throughout its operations which enabled
us to grow and develop our people in order to provide excepticnal levels of service to our customers

The subject of bonuses has captured the headlines recently and this year's accounts will show a
significant increase in compensation for the Chief Executive This is the result of the Board wishing to
reward an intense two year penod of activity dunng which peried he volunteered to take on the full-ime
role of managing the UK automotive branch network as well as his Group responsibiliies Stand-in
payments and bonuses were awarded to other operational Executives who also took on additional
responsibilities but the Chief Executive refused any increased compensation in the preceding years until
such time as he was convinced that the UK Automotive branch network was positioned to achieve a
strong and secure future for all of its stakeholders

| would like to take this opporturuty to express the Board's appreciation to people throughout Unipart
whose passion for the Unipart Way coupled with their dedication and commitment to our customers has
enabled the Group to create a culture which 1s fundamental to its long term competitive advantage
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Chief Executive’s Review

2011 was a year of significant strategic and operational achievements. The Group was able to
grow our sales in continuing operations by 7% in a very challenging economy. Operating profits
in our continuing operations were strong at £25.4m (2010 - £26.8m} and our manufacturing joint
ventures grew particularly strongly, with the Group share of operating profit from joint ventures
increasing by over 20%.

The investment 1n designing, developing and deploying The Unipart Way throughout the Group's
operating companies and into our clients enabled us to meet the challenges of subdued western
markets which exercised pressure not only on our companies but also on those of our clients

The major strategic step completed in September 2011 was the sale of a controlling interest in the UK
automotive branch network to H2 Equity Partners The significant investment the Group made in the UK
automotive branch network to implement The Unipart Way throughout the branch network together with
further investments in new product ranges enabled the business to grow substanbally n the
Independent Motor Trade Further additional and on-going investment was made and provided to build
outlet scale through the implementation of the Hub and Cluster supply chain strategy This has worked
well and it became very clear that for the business to realise its long term potential, it would need
system scale as well as outlet scale It also needs tc operate on a broader European footprint seeking
opportunites to extend its part number range to meet the needs of a more complex and sophisticated
vehicle pare together with the opportunity to leverage investment in systems and customer solutions

The Group entered discussions with H2 Equity Partners during 2011 to explore such synergies and it
quickly became clear that the favoured solution by all parties was for H2 to take a controlling stake in the
business with the Group retaining 49 9% of the business Extensive consultations with employees and
other stakeholders prior to completion produced a very favourable and positive response to the deal and
we look forward to seeing the business continue to develop both strategrcally and operationally in the
years ahead

During 2011 the Group wrote-off to operating expense the investments that we made in a wide range of
intiatives to improve the business which have and are expected to continue under the new owners The
Group has retained an investment 1n the new company and If the business performs as | am hepeful that
it will, the Group would expect to recover an amount in excess of the carrying value which would see a
return of the some of the investments made during 2011

| want to express my thanks to operational colleagues across the Group who took an additional tasks to
help to dramatically improve the service qualty and customer satisfaction tin the UK automotive branch
network A very successful bi-product of the implementation of The Unipart Way into multiple locations
has been the creation of a new ‘mult-site’ Unipart Way product which 1s attracting substantial interest
from companies seeking to iImprove employee engagement in their network operations

Manufacturing 1s once more in fashien in the United Kingdom and | am pleased that calls to exit this
sector many years ago were resisted The Group's manufactunng joint ventures have been successful
in moving the business from major over-rellance on one customer to a broad-based and growing
number of blue chip automotive comparies both in the United Kingdom and in Europe The
manufacturing joint ventures supply both a high volume of manufacturers and a growing number of high
performance niche producers which include some of the most famous brands in the world

The Group’s business leaders continue to operate in accordance with the first of our 18 Prnciples which
requires them to personally lead the implementation of The Unipart Way and coach ther fellow
employees in its philosophy, principles, tools and techniques This Is clearly valued by our existing and
potential chents as many refer to The Unipart Way as a key reason why they have broadened and
deepened their relationships with the Group We will continue our unending journey to grow the skills
and capabilittes of our people through the now well established ‘Gate to Great' programme at every level
throughout the Group

My colleagues and | are often asked to explan The Umipart Way but it's rather like being asked to
explain Beethoven’s 8" You have to hear it to appreciate it and The Unipart Way i1s the same in that you
need to see it in action to grasp and understand it Over the years, we have hosted wisits from
thousands of people from existing and potential clients to help them grasp the power of The Unipart
Way to not only serve them effectively but help them achieve competritive advantage in their markets

I want to take this opportunity to express my appreciation to my colleagues throughout the Group who
continue to study In our Faculties on the Floor to grow therr technical skills and thewr Unipart Way
knowledge and competencies They are articulate and powerful exemplars of the way the 18 Principles
of The Unipart Way are deployed on behalf of our customers
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They live by our guiding philosophy which 1s ‘to understand the real and perceved needs of cur
customers better than anyone else and serve them better than anyone else’ and through the regular
Mark In Action award ceremonies held in the Group University their stones demonstrate how living up to
the Corporate Goal of ‘making the Uripart logo the mark of outstanding persona! customer service' 1s
continuously reinforced as part of the Group’s DNA

During the year, 130 awards for outstanding personal customer service were presented to teams and
indviduals often by senior executives from highly appreciative customers Since the programme began
over twenty years ago, 2681 awards have been presented, each of them for exceptional performance
beyond what might normally be expected

Our employees work every day to evidence a culture of high levels of employes engagement and
customer engagement Their knowledge and skills ensure the Group can remain adaptable and flexible
so that they both welcome and relish change which is so cntical in a rapidly changing world

The Group was very pleased to receive external accreditation which recognises the very good work that
people throughout Unipart do every day It was a proud moment for the Group to be presented with the
Best Environmental Award at the Business in the Community Annual Awards ceremony in the Royal
Albert Hall in July There are many examples of individual initiatives which reduce our carbon footpnnt
but at the same time deliver real commercial benefits to our clients and our own company It was also
very pleasing to achieve platinum status in the Business in the Community Corporate Responsibility
awards Corporate responsibility has been integral to the mission statement the Group developed more
than twenty five years ago and such prestigious awards act as an on-going recognition and inspiration to
Urnipart people to act in accordance wath our values

All colleagues working in the Group appreciate the need to be constantly vigilant to ensure that health
and safety 15 a key facet of our operations so this I1s a subject which 1s discussed every day by teams
throughout the Group We were very pleased to be awarded with two Swords of Honour by the Brtish
Safety Council duning 2011 in our Cowley and Nuneaton facilities

I would like to conclude with a heartfelt thank you to people throughout our Group of Companies who
have demonstrated immense commitment to our Group and dedication to serving our customers 1 hear
hundreds of stones throughout the year of exceptronal things which people do which 1s way beyond the
normal call of duty Your commitment i1s recognised and appreciated by the Board and also our
customers

Qperating review

The Group supplies Its services to a diverse range of sectors including Automotive, Technology, Retalt,
Rall, Defence, Health, Utlites, Lersure and Manufacturing which require solutions in the supply chain
and logistics market The nature of these customer market sectors does not significantly affect the type
and breadth of the Group's services provided The main market sectors of the Group's customers are
considered in more detail below

Automotive

Unipart 1s proud of ds partnerships in the automotive industry, and continues to support a wide range of
clients including Jaguar Land Rover, Tata Motors, The London Taxi Company and Mobis Through the
application of The Unipart Way, coupled with employee engagement and intelligent use of systems,
Unipart has dnven client key performance indicators to world class levels

We strive to continuously improve the service levels offered to our clients’ businesses and the Group
was delighted to receive a number of client awards and automotive dealer surveys dunng the year that
recognised our tremendous efforts and passion for customers, as well as our fingerip control of complex
global automotive supply chains In 2011, Unipart successfully implemented its fourth logistics centre in
China and 1s pleased to have expanded services in support of Tata Motors in India Unipart is well
placed to support our chents and their customers in not only these growth markets, but also In other
emerging markets such as Russia

Dunng the year the Group sold a significant proportion of the assets of the UK automotve branch
network operations, which supphes parts to the automotive repair industry and recewved consideration in
the form of cash and equity, retaming a 49 9% interest Overseas distnbution operations in the
European and US markets, which service automotive crash repar and truck parts markets, have
performed well with encouraging levels of growth being achieved in the European market. Further
investments are planned for the coming year to expand these operations further
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Technology

The Group has expenenced particularly strong growth within the technology producis and services that
it provides and has confirmed its reputation as the top technology and logistics provider in the UK, as
existing long term relationships have been enhanced with the provision of additional services

In July, bullding on the strength and success of its seven year partnership with Sky, the Group went live
with the end-to-end management of Sky's Fleet & Engineer Services business This 15 significant new
business, mcorporating the procurement, distribution, maintenance and disposal of over 2,500 vehicles,
and all equipment required by Sky's field engineers As a long-term strateqic partner to Sky, this new
business posihons the Group at the heart of Sky's long term engineer fulfiment, field distnbution and
fleet management strategy The key differentiator was our commitment to finding new, mnovative ways
to deliver a greener and more cost effective fleet operation

The reparrs service has also been developed with several technology comparies and the base at
Nuneaton has recewed industry recognition as the best UK Mobile Reparr Centre, along with many
phone manufacturers whe have already given their highest possible level of accreditation Vodafone,
Three, and Virgin Mcbile remain key clients within this sector along wath other leading smartphone
manufacturers

The Group has continued with the expansion of ‘Universe’, its industry leading repair and returns
diagnostic system This tool enables the delivery of returns, reparr, refurbishment and repair avoidance
services by preventing unnecessary repairs being sent to the reparr centre and resolves 1ssues
remotely, therefore improving customer satisfaction

Retail

Durning 2011 the UK retail market has continued to be dramatcally affected by the economic downturn,
with many retaillers seeking long-term cost saving opportunities The Unipart Way has played a key role
in allowing us to work confidently with our clients and pursue these goals by removing waste and non-
value added activity to secure efficiency savings However, such has been the seventy of the downturn
that a number of high profile businesses have gone into administration, including our customer Habitat
dunng June 2011 Working closely with Habitat and the administrators, continuty of service was
maintained during this difficult perod, resulting in a new contract to provide logistcs services to the
Home Retail Group, who acquired the Habitat brand and three flagshup London stores

The refationship with Homebase continues to strengthen following the announcement of the 12 year
contract extension at the end of 2010, which resulted in a complete re-layout of the Cowley distnibution
centre during the summer of 2011, realising productivity benefits as a result of the re-faciitisation

ASOS revenues have continued to grow significantly year-on-year, primanly in the overseas markets
which now represent over half of therr overall business In order to facilitate this expansion, Unipart
successfully migrated the operation from five warehouses in Hemel Hempstead to a purpose built
530,000 sq foot fulfilment centre in Barnsley The new site went live dunng spring 2011, on budget and
ahead of schedule A second overseas returns processing hub was also implemented dunng the year in
Australha, complementing the operation currently in the US

The Samnsbury’s operaten in Tamworth has developed significantly during 2011, with improved
productivity and service levels The second phase of a warehouse management system change was
also managed with no major impacts

Rait

The Greup has continued to demonstrate #s ability to retain and build relationships with clients in the
traction and rolling stock and infrastructure markets The business operates across a significant
proportien of the UK rail market and has a growing presence abroad, supplying customers with solutions
to complex supply-chain issues as well as a comprehensive preduct recondioning, repair and
manufactunng operation, along with groming consultancy services direct to the rail industry

In the traction and rolling stock market, which services the Train and Freight Operating Companies for
aftermarket parts, as well as vehicle owners and builders, activity levels have increased in 2011, both In
the UK and ¢verseas The business continues to see high levels of contract retention with its key
customers and has recently expanded its services to take in depot stores management with one of its
major customers The business has been successful in securing business with new vehicle builders as
they come into the UK market and has expanded its overseas footpnnt by secunng a major contract
through a joint venture in Australia, providing mamntenance and supply chain services for passenger
vehicles, the contract commences mid-2012

In the infrastruciure market the Group has continued to support Network Rail directly and also indirectly
through the contractors appointed by Network Rall This continues to be a challenging environment as
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Network Rall strives to achieve its cost reduction targets The business has also locked to expand into
other rail infrastructures both in the UK and internationaily with some success and total sales were up on
the previous year

Over and above the rolling stock contract in Australia the business continues to grow internationally with
permanent representation in Australia, Western Europe, Asia and North Amenca

Manufacturing

The Group 15 a major suppler of advanced technology components to UK vehicle manufacturers
through its joint venture operations of UEES (Unipart Eberspécher Exhaust Systems Lumited) with
Eberspacher GmbH and KUL (Kautex Unipart Limited) with Kautex Textron Inc The components we
supply include complete exhaust systems, fuel tank systems and engine fuel rals, with these key
products being central to our customers’ achievements of reduced emussions and improved fue!
economy

Despite the weak economic conditions in the global economy we have continued to win new business
and invest for the future Our manufacturing production volumes in 2011 were at a similar level to the
record volumes achieved for our customers 1n 2010 We expenenced a high level of demand from our
UK based vehicle manufacturers as they introduced new models and maximised production to meet
demand in overseas markets The Group continues to invest in its manufactunng operations and durnng
2011 substantral new automotive business has been won for new model introductions that our
customers are introducing in 2013 This has been a testament to the on-going levels of outstanding
customer service that Unipart 1s renowned for and has continued to provide to its customers

UEES designs, develops and manufactures a range of exhaust systems, steel fuel tanks and engine
components, and will grow significantly over the coming years as new customer contracts will enhance
the income stream in all three product groups

KUL designs, develops and manufactures automotive HDPE plastic fuel tanks and 1s a leading supplier
in the UK During 2011, new faciities have been installed that have increased the praduction capacity by
25% whilst the business has continued to support customers in the launch of new models New
business has also been secured on customers future model introductions In the coming years which
sets the business on a path for growth

Through other manufactuning and service operatiens In the UK, US and Middle East, the Group also
designs, builds, repairs and services a wide range of heat exchangers and pressure vessels for a wide
range of sectors including motor sport and F1, automotive, rail, mdustnal and power generation Many
clients have been cautious about major spend on new plant and overhauls during the year, but
throughput levels have remained stable The busmess has continued to raise its profile in the fossil fuel
and nuclear power generation sectors by designing and building innovative solutions for its customers,
helping chients to increase output, reduce operating costs and extend plant hfe

Business Services

Over recent years the Group has developed and offered its consultancy operatons to a vanety of
markets 2011 has provided significant challenges as the consultancy market has continued to deciine
with low activity levels in Central Government consultancy, which in turn has led to a re-focus on
alternate sectors and a restructunng of actmties In response to market shifts the Finance and Banking
sector has provided new opporturities for existing and new customers UEP continues to provide
consultancy to a major UK high street bank and during the year secured a second finance client being a
majer global investment bank, an account which 1s expected to increase two-fold dunng 2012 Towards
the end of the year the practise began scoping activities for new banking clients and expects these to
mature info exciting opportunities for 2012

Market presence has also been maintained in the Health sector and successful relationships have
continued with the Countess of Chester NHS Foundation Trust, Sherwood Forest Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust and Southend Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust Two new clients have also been
added to this sector dunng 2011

Within Manufactunng consultancy the business has restructured ready for future growth and the focus
has been on delivenng excellent results for key clients to extend existing relationships
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Corporate Soclal Responsibility

For a second time, following the award in 2010, the Group achieved Platinum status in Business n the
Community's {BITC} corporate responsibiity index, the UK's leading benchmark for responsible
businesses Urnipart has been taking part in the BITC Index since s launch and has consistently
improved its rating over the years The Umipart Way, the Group's business philosophy and business
system for delivering continuous improvement, has enabled the Group to integrate and embed corporate
responsibiity activity into every area of its business processes and accelerate the Group’s ability to
engage people in many improvement programmes

Unipant also came first in the BITC Annual Awards for Excellence in Environmental Leadership This
positions Unipart among the best companies in the world for enpvironmental feadership and
demonstrates to our existing stakeholders and potential customers our deep commitment to
continuously improving our environmental performance and to leading the way on environmental 1ssues

This year Unipart has also looked at its environmental impact in a wider context. The company has
worked with a number of local stakeholders to create a wision for a low carbon Oxford as part of a
county-wide programme Key projects have been set up with local businesses examining how carbon
reductions can be achieved across Oxfordshire, with the company using s project planming and
creative problem solving expertise to help plan how these reductions can be reahsed

Unipart continued 1ts support for the InspirEd project providing educational and vocational traiming to
permanently excluded pupils from the local area and offering work expenence to homeless people 1n
Oxford with the potential for engoing employment

Dividends

The Board 1s not proposing a dwvidend for the year, but further investments are being made to
consolidate the Group’s position and to enable the Group to continue to develop and grow the business
as opportunities arise in the forthcoming year

Principal risks and uncertainties

The management of the business and the execution of the Group's strategy are subject to a number of
nsks Risks are formally reviewed by the Board and appropnate processes put in place to monitor and
mitigate them A summary of the key business nsks affecting the Group I1s set out below

{a) Competition

Across the vanous areas of its logistics services, the Group operates i a highly competitive market
which applies pressure to the sales and margins that can be achieved Through the therough application
of The Unipart Way, the Group seeks to differentiate itself from its competitors by offering superior levels
of qualtty, service and availabiity te its customers The Group also differentiates tself through the broad
spectrum of supply chain solutions it can provide and tator for its customers

{b) Customer contracts

Over a number of years, the Group has developed a significant number of long-term partnerships with
its chents, with both sides investing in the relationship for mutual benefit As a result, the loss of any
major clients would represent a nsk to the Group However, this nsk 1s mitigated through continued
diversificatton with new clients, close chent management at vanous levels and long-term contractual
refatonships The Group manages varying degrees of its clients’ supply chains including holding
significant levels of inventory at the Group’s worldwide warehouses Through tight controls and
continuous improvement processes, the Group minimises the nisk of loss of its own or clients' inventory

{c) Pension deficit

The Group’s nisks in the deficit in the defined benefit schemes remain the exposure to external factors
such as discount rates, rates of imflahon, market returns and mortalty rates as these factors can have a
significant impact on the Group’s pension schemes’ financial positen Further details of the position of
the pensions schemes is set out in note 24

(d) Global recession

In recent years the recession has had a pervasive effect on the economy as a whole and on the
automotive market in particular The Group 1s well diversified in both the products and markets it
operates i and also in the long-term customer relationships it has developed, therefore the nsk it 1s
exposed to i1s reduced In additton, having secured long-term funding arrangements, the Group
continues to maintain sufficient banking headroom for future investments
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Financial Review

The sale of the UK automotive branch network during the year has had a signficant impact on the
financial performance and position of the Group and therefore the results of the operations have been
disclosed as discontinued operations in the current year and the comparatives have been restated to
reflect this
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Turnover

In the face of a difficult economic environment the Group reports an underlying sales growth of 6 9%
Turnover from continuing operations, including our share of joint ventures and associates, was £1bn for
the year, compared to the prior year revenues of £941 9m

Operating Profit for the year

Operating profit from continuing operations of £28 7m (2010 - £296m) 1s a sohd performance in the
context of high inflabonary influence on costs and extreme pressure on operating margins The
operating loss from discontinued operations, being the UK automotive branch network sold dunng the
year, 1s £20 3m (2010 - £21 6m), resulting tn overall operating profit of £8 4m which 1s £0 4m ahead of
2010

Share of joint ventures’ operating profit
The Group's share of operating profit in joint ventures was £2 6m (2010 - £2 1m) The joint ventures
which supply fuel and exhaust systems to the major UK based automotive onginal equipment
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manufacturers have been successful in winning stgnificant new business for the future and have
benefited from the export ted volume growth of their major customers 1n 2011

Share of associate’s operating profit
Operating profit of £0 7m (2010 - £0 7m) has been generated by an overseas associate

Exceptional items reported after operating profit

Exceptional items reported after operating profit of £25 7m represents the loss incurred on the disposal
of the trade and assets of the UK automotive branch network and are reported wathin discontinued
operations

ARer accounting for the £25 7m exceptional loss on disposal, a loss before interest and tax of £17 3m is
reported (2010 - £9 5m profit}

Interest and other financial income and charges

Net interest payable for the year was £4 1m compared to £3 Om in the previous year, the increase being
due to a higher level of average borrowings throughout the year and the wnte off of the unamortised
Issue costs capitalised under a previous financing faciity which was refinanced dunng the year

Net other finance income of £1 9m arose in the year (2010 - £0 4dm) This reflects the net financing credit
of £1 im (2010 - £0 5m) that arose from the expected return of the pension schemes’ assets over the
interest on habilities as prescribed by FRS 17, which (s nefted by the unwinding of discounting on
provisions of £0 2m (2010 - £0 1m)

Tax
The overall tax credit for the year 15 £0 8m (2010 - £3 1m charge) resulting from a deferred tax credit
ansing from the loss in the year

Pensions

Future accruals to the Group's two main defined benefit schemes ceased in 2005 Since then, the
Group has undertaken significant activity to address its obligations to these schemes The last actuanal
valuation took place as at 31 January 2010 and a Scheme Specific Funding Plan has been agreed with
the Trustees and mplemented

As at 31 December 2011, the deficit under FRS17 on the Group's defined benefit pension schemes had
nsen to £151 5m (2010 - £75 0m) Whilst returns on the assets held by the pension schemes durnng
2011 were negative, the majority of the increase in the deficit was due to the increase in habiites The
increase In habilites was exacerbated by a low discount rate For FRS17 purposes, the discount rate 15
denved from the 'AA’ corporate bond market and the rate used was 5 18% compared to 5 77% n the
previous year Bond rates in sterling have reached histoncally low rates in 2011, commentators have put
this down to a mixture of both the "quantitative easing’ undertaken by the Bank of England whereby
bonds are purchased by it and also the safe haven status given to UK bonds dunng the continuing cnisis
in the Eurozone

Shareholders’ funds

The net assets of the Group (prior to the net pension deficit) are £94 1m (2010 - £119 7m) The
decrease of £256m 1s pnmanly a result of the loss on discontinued operations in the year The total
deficit in shareholders’ funds at December 2011 of £57 4m has decreased by £117 1m since the last
annual report reflecting the movement in the deficit on the pension schemes of £76 5m

Going concern

The Group accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis Account has been taken for the
depletion of shareholders funds set out above, however the Group is reporting profit before interest and
tax in respect of continuing operations of £28 7m and a cash inflow before financing of £3 8m (2010 -
£0 3m iflow) resulting 1n a net borroming position at the end of the year of £158m compared to a
posttion of £19 8m at the end of 2010

Additionally the group has significant borrowing facilities avalable Followming a refinancing in the year
the pnncipal facility is a working capital facility of up to £68m committed until 2015 Also available are a
revoiving facility of £30m committed until Novemeber 2013, an amortising term facility repayable by
November 2013 and an amortising term loan of €10m repayable by March 2018

Sufficient headroom i1s available in respect of these combined facilites to finance the on-going actmities
of the Group
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Treasury policies
The Group’s financial nsks are managed centrally by Group Treasury with policies that are approved by
the Board

(a) Interest rate risk

Interesst rate nsk in respect of debt 1s reviewed on a regular basis In order to protect against the volatiity
of interest charges, interest rate swaps and interest ‘Caps’ and 'Collars’ are used for appropnate
proportions of the debt

(b} Foreign currency risk

The Greoup's foreign currency transaction nsks mainly anse because receipts In currencles other than
Sterling are greater than its payables in those currencies, principally for the US Dollar and the Euro
Hedging of net currency exposures 1s implemented in order to ‘protect’ forecast gross profits and cover
short term currency exposure The hedges are enacted through forward and spot currency contracts
and options entered into by Group Treasury on the basis of trading projections

The Group enters ito foreign exchange and interest rate contracts as part of its normal course of
trading The resuling denvatives are not included at far value in the Group balance sheet at 31
December 2011 The extent and fair value of these dervatives 1s of such a level that it does not
matenally affect the reported results and as a result has not been disclosed

(c) Liquidsty risk

The objective 1s to ensure a mix of funding methods offenng flexibility and cost effectiveness to match
the needs of the Group In the context of the current banking environment the Group 1s pleased to have
secured long-term banking facihities and continues to maintain strong control over working capital

{d} Counterparty risk

The investment management of hquid funds ams to maximise the return on net funds subject to the
secunty of the pnncipal and the hquidity of the Group The Group has identified counterparties of
suitable credit worthtness

Key performance indicators
The Board uses a number of financial and non-financial key performance indicators to monitor the
progress of the Group

The performance dunng the year for continuing operations, together with histoncal trend data s set out
below

{a) Availability

The availability of product for delivery to customers is a key performance indicator across the Group In
aggregate, this statistic 1s not meaningful due to diffenng service level client requirements Indiwvidually,
this 1s commercially sensitive infformaticn which it would be prejudicial to disclose

{b) Daily sales — continuing operations - £4 Om (2010 -~ continuing operations — £3 7m)
Dally sales for continuing operations have increased from the pnor year demonstrating the strong
performance from the Group’s core operations

{c) Return on sales — conbinuing operations — 2 9% (2010 — continuing operations — 3 2%)
Return on sales for continuing operations 1s lower than the prior year reflecting investment in the future
growth of the business

(d) Debtor days — continuing operations — 38 days (2010 - continuing operations — 40 days)
Debtor days have improved compared with the pnor year due to improved debtor collection

(e) Creditor days — continuing operations - 39 days (2010 — continuing operations - 39 days)
Creditor days are in line with the pnior year

(f) Inventory turn — continuing operations ~ 6 3 times (2010 — continuing operations — 6 1 times)
There has been strong focus in the year on opttmising the level of worlang capital in the business These
efforts, along with the increased sales, have resulted in improved inventory turn
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Board of Directors

Lord Sheppard KCVO KT

Non-executive Chairman

Lord Sheppard was appointed non-executive
Chairman of Unipart in 1696 following 21 years
as a dwector of Grand Metropolitan, which
included posiions as Group Chiet Executve
(1986-83) and Chairman {1987-98) Knghted in
both 1990 and in 1996, and awarded a peerage
in 1894, Allen Sheppard had previously spent 18
years n the motor wdusiry n finance, sales,
marketing and lne management with Ford,
Rootes and Bnhsh Leytand

He graduated in 1953 at the London School of
Econemics where he 15 now an honorary fellow
and honorary governor He 1s also Chairman of
Namibian Resources plc as well as Chancellor of
Middlesex Uruiversity Lord Sheppard has been a
key figure in the runtung of the Prince’s Trust and
Business in the Community and 1s President and
Founder of London First, which stnves to
tmprove and promote London

A J Mourgue

Group Finance Director

Tony Mourgue was appointed Group Finance
Cirector 1n 1988 having jomed Untpart in 1983
Prior to that, Tony worked with Black & Decker in
the UK with responsibiities in Europe, the Middle
East and Africa, having qualified as a Chartered
Accountant with Emst & Young in London and
Pans

As well as managing the intemal finanaal ¢contrel
of the Group, he has been responsible for
executing the numerous acquisibions and
disposals the Group has undertaken and has
been closely invoived wath relationships with
investors, ncluding the onginal buyout, & share
buy back and share transactons between
institutional sharehciders He Is also responsible
for banking relationships and having led the
process to reduce Group debt, has put into place
long-term banking facilities for the Group

J M Nelll CBE

Chlef Executlve & Deputy Chairman

John Neill was appointed Chief Executive of the
Group n 1887, having led the management
buyout from Bnysh Leyland John joined Unipart
n 1974, becoming Managing Director in 1977
Together with the Board members and members
of the Group Executve Committee he 13
responsible for the day-to-day management and
overall performance of the Group

He holds a number of key positions within the
motor mdustry including Vice President of the
Society of Motor Manufacturers and Traders
{SMMT), as well as being a Board member of the
SMMT Industry Forum He 13 also a non-
executive director of Rolls-Royce plc He 15 a
forrmer member of the Courd of the Bank of
England and formerty a non-executive director of
Charter International pic and The Roya! Mall He
has been awarded hongcrary Doctorates n
Business Administration from several universities
ncluding Oxford Brockes, De Montfort and
Middlesex
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J D Clayton

Managing Director

John Clayton manages the Group's interests in
the Rall, Commercial Vehicle, Leisure and
Manne sectors He 1s a member of the Group
Executive Committee and chairs the Group's
Procurement Forum Since joining Unipart in
1983, he has held senor financial and
operational roles in the Group John 13 a Council
Member of the Raiway Industry Association
(RIA) which 15 the Trade Associaton for UK
based supphers

in his earlier career, he qualified as a Chartered
Accountant with Emst & Young before joining
Black & Decker from where he moved to Unipart

F W Burns

Managing Director

Frank Bums manages the Group's interests
across a range of sectors including Automotive
Aerospace, Defence, Technology and Retail
Frank also has Board responsibility for our joint
venture Manufacturing interests along with the
Group's Lean Consultancy solutions He s
responsible for the implementaton of The
Unipart Way across the Group and the
development of the Group's Expert Practtioners

He started his career at Unipart in 1988 where
he held a number of postions meluding
specialising as the Managing Director of the
Group's Manufactunng interests In 1999 he
moved Into the Logistcs arena and was
appointed Managing Director dunng 2008

S R Johnson

A M Vinton

Non-executive Director & Deputy Chairman
Fred Vinton was apponted a director in 1998
and norexecutve Deputy Chairrnan in 2004 He
18 the former Chairman of the intemational fund
management company EP Private Equity and is
currently a non-executive director of European
Goldfields Limted He s also a director of
Hochschild Mining ple, a pnvate family fund
management company and several fund
management companies nvestng m  Latn
Amenca and Europe He previously served as
Chief Operating Officer at N M Rothschild &
Sons and as Chief Executive responsible for the
financial assets of the Bemberg Family Group

Born in Argentina, he graduated from Harvard in
sconomics and spent 25 years with J P Morgan
in the US, South Amenca and, latterly, London
where he was Sentor Vice President responsible
for banking operations and UK business from
1980-86

Non-executive Director

Stave Johnson was apponted to the Board in 2006
He has owver 20 years expenence In the retal
industry, having been part of the team that turned
around and successfully sold Asda to Walmart Steve
currently works i a number of private equity
businesses, being Charrman of Dreams pic, the UK's
largest bed retaler and also a Board member of
Lenta Limited, a farge Russtan hypemarket chain

He 15 alse a non-executve director of Big Yellow
Group plc as well as acting as an adwvisor to a number
of private equity funds Previously Steve has been
Chief Executive Officer of Focus DIY Limited and
Woolworths Group ple, as well as holding a senior
posiion at GUS plc Steve holds a degree n
engineenng and started his career i management
consultancy with Bain & Company




12 inlpant Group of Companies Limited Annual Report 2011

Directors' Report

The directors present their report together with the audited financial statements of the Company and Group for the year ended 31 December 2011

Princlpal activities and business review

Unipart develops, i/mplements and operates supply chain solutions in the distnbution and logistics market in partnership with s customers in a wide
range of customer sectors including Automotive, Technology, Rail, Retall and Consumer industnes Unipart's expertise and solutions cover the entire
supply chain, ranging from intial procurement, warehousing and distnbution to consultancy and trairing as well as IT and management systems and
reverse logistics support These acbvities and an indication of likely future developments are descnbed in the Chairman's statement on page 1, the
Chief Executive's review on pages 2 to 6 and the Financial review on pages 7 to 8, whech collectively form the Business review Prncipal subsidranes,
joint ventures and associates are Wisted wn note 27

Profit and dividends

The Group reports an operating profit for conbinuing operations of £28 7m (2010 - continuing operations - £29 6m, with a total operating profit of £8 4m
{2010 - conttnuing operations - £8 0m) The Company has not patd nor 15 it proposing to pay any dividends in respect of the financial year ended 31
December 2011 (2010 - £nil)

Directors and directors’ Interests
The current directors served throughout the year and up to the date of signing of the report The biographical details of the current directors are listed
on pages 10 to 11 The beneficial nterests of the current directors and thetr families in the share capital of the Company at the year end are shown
below
Ordinary Shares {A, D and E)
of ¥:p each

31 December 1 January
2011 2011
Numhber Number
Beneficial Holdings
Lord Sheppard 135,000 135,000
JM Nealt 7 767,082 7,767,082
Ad Mourgue 1397,324 1,397,324
JO Clayton 282,583 282,583
FW Burns 112,002 112,002
AM Vinton 275,000 275,000
SR Johnson 12,000 12,000
Non-Beneficial Holdings
JM Neill 898,020 898,020
Ordinary ‘A' shares under 31 December 1 January
option in the Company 2011 2011
Number Number
JM Neill 1,918,367 1,818,367
AJd Mourgue 1,122,449 1,122,449
JD Clayton 345,000 345,000
FW Bums 595 000 595,000

No options were granted, exerased or lapsed dunng the financial year

There was no contract with the Company or its subsidianes subsisting dunng or at the end of the year in which any director of the Company had a
matenal interest, vath the exceptien of an widemmty which was made avadable to the directors against habilties ingured By them w defending
proceedings against them in relation {o the affars of the Company The indemnity 18 subject to the provisions of the Companies Act and 1s set out In
the Articles of Association

Financial risk management

The Group's operations expose it to a vanety of financial nsks that include the effect of changes in pnce nsk, credit nsk, hquedity nsk, interest rate nsk,
foreign exchange rate nsk and cash flow nsk The Group enters into interest rate and foreign exchange contracts to reduce the level of ask that it
faces These policies are approved by the Board and are managed centrally by the Group's treasury department Further details of the financial nsks
are disciosed in the Financial review on page 9

Overseas branches
Details are set out in note 27 to the financial statements

Donations

Dunng the year, the Group supported chanles with donations of £53,200 (2010 - £23,200) of which £16,500 (2010 - £12,800) was for health and well-
being purposes, £8,300 (2010 - £3,200) in respect of child welfare and youth development and £28,400 (201C - £7,100) to other chantable purposes
in support of employees in their fund-raising activities The Group made no poliical donations dunng the year (2010 - £nly

Supplier payment policy

Prowded there are no disputes concerrung the supply of goods of services, « is the Company's and Group's normal practice 1o pay us supphiers within
an acceptable penod of tme The average number of days purchases in Group trade creditors at 31 December 2011 was 39 days (2010 - 39 days)
based on continuing operations The Company does not have any trade creditors
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Directors' Report (continued)

Employees

The Group continues to mvolve employees in the deasion-making process and communicates with all employees on vanious matters, ingluding the
economic and financial factors affecting the Group via regular briefings, on-site tramning, employee forums and through our in-house enline and DVD
programme 'Grapevine' Employee involvement in the Group's performance 1S encouraged through employee bonus and share schemes and this
involvernent extends to the board of trustees of the main pension scheme on which there are employee representatives

The Group's am for all existing employees and applicants for employment i1s to fit the qualfications, aptitude and abiity of each indwidual to the
appropriate job, and to provide equal opportumity regardless of sex, religion or ethnic ongin The Group does all that s practicable to meet its
responsibility towards the employment and tratning of disabled people Where an employee becomes disabled, every effort 15 made to provide
continurty of employment in the same job or 2 suitable altemative

Group Share Trust
In order to enable employees to buy shares and have an interest in the Group a Group Share Trust was set up at the tme of the onginal buyout n
January 1987 It has independent trustees and dunng dealing periods it can offer to buy and sell shares Penodically # may also participate in
schemes that enable employees to acquire shares and share options It 1s not considered appropnate to consolidate the Group Share Trust in the
Group's financial statements due to the terms of the trust deeds governing the Group Share Trust, which prevent the Group from having de facte
control over the trust

Going concemn

The directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources 10 continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future
Although the movement in the deficit on the pension schemes has resulted in a deficit on shareholders’ funds, the Group has the benefit of long-term
borrowing faciiies and contmues to maintain sufficient borowing headroom for future investments For this reasen, the directars continue te adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the financial statements

Auditors
The auditors, PncewaterhouseCoopers LLP have indicated their wilingness to continue in office

Statement of directors’ responsibilities
The directors are responsible for prepanng the Directors’ report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations

Gompany law requires the directors to prepare Group and Company financial statements for each financial year Under that law the directors have
elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice {United Kingdom Accounting
Standards and applicable law) Under company law, the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satsfied that they give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and Group and of the profit or loss of the Group for that penod

In preparing those financial statements, the directors are required to
+ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them conssstently,
+ make judgements and accounting estmates that are reasonable and prudent,
« slate whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any matenal departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements, and
« prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it 1s iInappropriate to presume that the Company or Group will continue in
business

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’'s and Group's
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any tme the financial posibon of the Company and the Group and enable them to ensure that
the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2008 They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregulanties

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and infegnty of the Company’s website Legisiation in the United Kingdom governing the
preparation and dissenunation of financial statements may differ from legislation in other junsdictions

Statement of disclosure of Information to auditors
In the case of each director in office at the date the directors’ report 1s approved, under section 418(1}) to (4) of the Companies Act 2008 the following
applies
+ 50 far as the director 1s aware, there 13 no relevant audit informatton of which the Company's auditors are unaware, and
+ he has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a director in order {o make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to
establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information

By arder of the Board

M

M D Rimmer
Company Secretary
Oxford

8 March 2012
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Independent Auditors' Report

To the members of Unipart Group of Companies Limited

We have audited the Group and parent Company financial statements (the "financial statements”) of Unipart Group of Companies Limited
for the year ended 31 December 2011 which compnse the Group Profit and Loss Account, the Group and FParent Company Balance
Sheets, the Group Cash Flow Statement, the Group Statement of Total Recogrised Gains and Losses, the Group Note of Histoncal Cost
Profits and Losses and the related notes The financral reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation 1s applicable law and
United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, set out on page 13, the direclors are responsible for the preparation of
the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair iew Our responsibility 1s to audit and express an opinion on
the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards
require us to comply wath the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a bedy in accordance with Chapter 3 of
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose  We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report 1s shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our
prior consent n wnting

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance
that the financial statements are free from matenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This Includes an assessment of
whether the accounting policies are appropnate to the Group's and parent Company's circumstances and have been consistently applied
and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors, and the overall presentation of the
financial statements In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Diwrectors Report to identfy matenal
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements |If we become aware of any apparent matenal misstalements or inconsistencies we
consider the implications for our report

Opinlon on financial statements
tn our opinign the financial statements
» give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and the parent Company's affairs as at 31 December 2011 and of the Group's
loss and cash flows for the year then ended,
« have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and
+ have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2008

in our opivion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is
consistent with the financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing 1o report in respect of the following matters where the Compames Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, i our opinion

« adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us, or

= the parent Company financial statlements are net in agreement with the accounting records and returns, or

« certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or

» we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

Andrew Harhmond (Sonlor Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCcopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Birmingham

6 March 2012
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Group Profit and Loss account
For the year ended 31 December 2011

2011 2010
Continumg  Discontinued Total Continuing Discontinued Total
operations operations operations  operations
Notes £m £m £m £m £m £Em
Turnover
Total tumover 1,006 9 1336 1,140 5 9419 1880 1,129 9
Less share of joint ventures and associates {F70) - {77 0) (68 4) - (66 4)
Group turnover 2 929 9 1336 1,063 5 8735 188 0 1,061 5
Operating profit/{loss)
Group operating profitiloss) 3 254 {20 3) 51 268 (21 6) 52
Share of operating profit in joint ventures 26 - 26 21 - 21
Share of operating profit in associate 07 - [ 4 o7 - 07
Total operating profit/{loss) 87 (20 3) 84 296 (216) 8o
Profit on disposal of fixed assets 4 - - - 15 - 15
Loss on disposal of businesses 4 - {257) {25 7) - - -
Profiti{loss) on ordinary activities before 287 {46 0) {17 3) 31 (21 6) 95
interest and tax
Net interest payable
- Group {40} (29
- Share of joint ventures (0 1) (1)
Total net interest payable 5 41) 30)
Net other finance credit ] 19 04
(Loss) / profit on ordinary activities before (19 5) 69
tax
Tax credit / {charge) on (loss) / profit on 7 08 <31
ordinary activities
(Loss) / profit on ordinary activities after tax (18 7) 38
Equity minonty interests 21 {0 5) {05
{Loss) / profit for the financial year 21 (19 2) 33
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Group statement of total recognised gains and losses

retained after tax and equity minority
Interests

For the year ended 31 December 2011 2011 2010
Notes £m £m

{Loss) / profit for the financal year

Group (21 8) 13

Share of joint ventures and associates 26 20

21 (19 2} 33

Actuanal (loss) / gan recognised on Group 24 (104 7) 373

pension schemes

Deferred tax relating to actuanal loss / (gain} on 14, 21 228 {11 86)

Group pension schemes

Current tax relating to actuanal loss / (gan) on 21 03 -

Group pension schemes

Actuanal loss recognised on joint ventures' 21 (0 3) (o1

pension schemes

Revaluation of freehold tand and butldings in 1 (0 6) 01

year

Foreign exchange adjustments 21 0 4) (0 5)

Total gains and losses recognised relating to the year (102 1) 285

Note of Group histoncal cost profits and losses

For the year ended 31 December 2011 2011 2010
Notes £m £Em

{Loss} / profit on ordinary actvities before taxation {19 5) 69

Difference between histonical cost depreciation 21 04 04

charge and the actual depreciation charge of

the year calculated on the revalued amount

Difference between historical cost profit on sale 21 01 06

and actual profit on sale calculated on the

revalued amount

Historical cost {loss) / profit on ordinary (19 0} 79

activities before tax

Historical cost (loss) / profit for the year (18 7} 43
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Balance Sheets
As at 31 December 2011

Group Group Company Company
2011 2010 2011 2010
Notes £m £m £m £m
Fixed assets
Intangible assets 10 11 14 - -
Tangible assets 11 449 578 - -
Investments in subsidianes 12 (¢} - - 520 720
Investments in joint ventures
Share of gross assets 248 253
Share of gross habilities {156 3) (17 4)
12{a) (c) 85 79 58 58
Loans 12(a) (c) 1§ 20 15 20
Investment in associates 12(b) 22 21 - -
Trade Investments 12(b) 211 - . -
803 712 593 798
Current assets
Stock 13 1106 142 4 - -
Debtors - amounts falling due within one year 14 (a) 133 4 156 2 222 87
Debtors - amounts falling due after more than one year 14 {b}) 294 267 21 11
Cash at bank and in hand 245 228 93 106
2979 3481 336 204
Creditors - amounts falllng due within one year 15 (229 0) {238 9} (20 0} (13 0}
Neot curront assets 639 109 2 136 74
Total assets less current llabilities 1492 180 4 729 872
Creditors - amounts falling due after more than one year 16 (34 3) (38 5) (13 2) (13 2}
Provisions for [Habilities 18 (20 8) (22 2) - -
Total net assets (prior to net penslen deficlt) 941 1197 597 740
Net pension deficit 24 (161 5) (75 0) - -
Total net (liabllitles)/assets (including net pension deficit) {57 4) 44 7 597 74 ¢
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 19 o4 04 04 04
Share premium account 21 44 44 44 44
Capuital redemptien reserve 21 1185 115 158 115
Revaluation reserve 21 198 209 - -
Profit and loss reserve 21 {94 1) 69 43 4 577
Total shareholders’ funds 22 (58 0) 441 597 740
Equity minonty interests 21 06 06 - -
Capital employed {57 4) 447 597 740

The financial statements on pages 15 to 37 were approved by the Board on 6 Ma

N2

Group Chief Executive

Unipart Group of Companies Limited
Registered No 1994997

2012 and signed on its behatf by
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Group Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31 December 2011

2011 2010
Notes £m £m £m £m
Net cash (outflow) / inflow from operating activities 23(a) (32) 89
Dividends received from joint ventures and associate 02 1
Returns on investments and servicing of flnance

Interest received 02 03

Interest paid (3 5) (2 8)

Interest element of finance lease rentals (o1 02)

Issue costs on debt (09) ((*lr)]

Repayment of loan notes recevable 05 13

Dividends paid to minonty shareholders (0 5) (0 5)

Net cash outflow from returns on investments and servicing of finance 43) (2 6)
Taxation z4) a7
Capital expenditure and financlal Investment

Purchase of tangible fixed assets 47) 70

Sale of tangible fixed assets 04 26

Net cash outflow from capital expenditure and financial investment 43) 44
Acquisitions and dispesals

Cash transferred on disposal of businesses {2 5) -

Disposal of businesses 204 -

Net cash inflow for acquisitions and disposals 23(c) 179 -
Cash inflow before financing 39 03
Financing

Increase / {(decrease) in debt due wathin a year 12 (17)

Capial element in finance lease payments 07 (0 8)

{Decrease) / ncrease in debt due after more than one year (37) 32

Net cash {cutflow) / inflow from financing 32) 07
Increase in cash 23(b) 07 10
Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net cash 2011 2010

Notes £m £m
Increase in cash 23(b) Q7 10
Net cash iflow / (outflow) from change in debt and lease financing 23(b) 32 07
Change in net debt resuilting from cash flows 39 03
Non-cash movements
Currency translation differences 23(b) 01) 02)
Capitalisation of bank fees 23(b} 09 07
Amortisation of capitalised bank fees 23(b} {0 7) {0 4)
Movement n net debt 40 04
Net debt at 1 January 23(b) (19 8) (20 2)
Net dobt at 31 Decomber 23(b} {15 8) {19 8)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 Accounting policies

A summary of the more important accounting policies adopted by
the Company and the Group is given n the following paragraphs
The policies are consistent with the previgus year, except where
noted below

Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared on the gong
concern basis in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and
applicable accounting standards 1n the United Kingdom Although
the movement in the defiat on the pension schemes has resulted
in a deficit on shareholders' funds, the Group has significant
borrowing facilittes avallable with sufficient headroom in respect of
these faciittes to finance the ongomg actvites of the Group The
financial statements are prepared on the histoncal cost basis of
accounting, modified to include the valuation of freehold land and
bulldings

Basis of consolidation

The Group financial statements compnse a consolidation of the
financial statements of the Company and all of its subsidiary
undertakings and incorporate its share of the results of ail joint
ventures and associates via equity accounting pnnciples The
results and farr value of the assets and Labihihes of undertakings
acquired are consolidated from the date the Group gains control
The results from discontinued operations are included up unti the
date they are disposed of Where, in the view of the directors, the
Group does not have de facto control over the related entities,
these entes are excluded from the consclidakon in the Group's
financial statements Mo profit and loss account 18 presented for
the Company as permitied by Section 408 (3} of the Companies
Act 2006 Uniform accounting policies are applied across the
Group Intragroup transactions are eiminated on consoltdation

Revenue

Income 1s recognised on the invoiced and accrued value of goods
and services supplied dunng the year, inctuding amounts recewved
and receivable on management fee contracts The sale of goods
are recognised at the point at which the goods are dispatched The
sales of services are recognised 1n the accounting penod in which
the services are rendered, by reference to the agreed contractual
arrangements Turnover 1s reported net of conditional discounts,
VAT and other sales taxes Where the Group holds properties that
are sublet, this income 1s recognised over the penod to which the
sublet relates Income denved from gan share arrangements 1s
recognised when the benefits are agreed with customers and are
cartain

Pension costs

The Group accounts for pension and other post retrement benefits
schemes In accordance with FRS 17 Rewised, 'Retrament
benefits' For defined contnbution schemes, coninbutions are
charged to the group profit and loss account as payable in respect
of the accounting year

For defined benefit schemes, the amounts charged to operating
profit are the current service costs, excluding the costs of servicing
the investments, and gains and losses on settlements and
curtailments They are included within staff costs and charged or
credited to the statutory profit and loss account headings to which
they relate Past service costs are recognised immediately in the
Group profit and loss account If the benefits have vested If the
benefits have not vested immediately, the costs are recognised
over the pencd untl vesting occurs The interest cost, the cost of
servicing the mvestments and the expected retum on assets are
shown as a net amount of other finance costs or credits adjacent
to interest. Actuanal gains and losses are recognised iImmed atety
In the Group statement of total recogrused gains and losses

Where defined benefit schemes are funded, the assets of the
scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in separate
trustee administered funds Pension scheme assets are measured
at farr value and hablites are measured on an actuanal basis
using the projected unit method and discounted at a rate
equivalent to the current rate of return on a high quality corporate
bond of equivalent currency and term to the scheme habilibes

The actuanal valuatons are obtained at least tnennially and are
updated at each balanca sheet date The resulting defined benefit
asset or hability, net of the related deferred taxation, is presented
separately after other net assets on the face of the balance sheet

Where 1t 15 not possible to sphit the scheme assets and habities
between indvidual subsidiary companies, the relevant subsidiary
companies account for pansions on a contrbutions basis

Goodwll

Goodwill, being the excess of the far value of purchase
consideration of businesses acquired over the Group's share of the
fair value of assets and habihties acquired, 15 wntten off to the
Group profit and loss account on a strarght line basis over penods
which represent the useful economic lives of those assets, which
are all between 10 and 20 years All goodwill arsing pnor to the
adoption of FRS 10, ‘Goodwill and intangible assets’ remains
wnitten off to reserves and will be charged to the Group profit and
loss account on subsequent disposal or terminaton of the
business to which If relates

Intangible assets

Expenditure incurred {o acquire licences to manufacture certain
products are capitalised and amortised on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of the estmated economic Iife of the manufactunng
activity, the iife of the licence or twenty years Development costs
incurred on specific projects are capitalised when recoverability
can be assessed with reasonable certamnty and are amortised in
ine with the expected sales ansing from the projects

Tangible fixed assets

All tangible fixed assets, with the exception of freehold land and
bulldings, are carred at cost less deprectation and prowision for
impairment The cost of purchased assets 18 the value of
consideration given to acquire the assets and the value of other
directly attnbutable costs which are incurred in bringing the assets
to the location and condition necessary for their intended use

Freehold land and bulldings are carned at valuation (open market
value for existing use) As the Group's portfolio of freehold land
and buldings consists of a number of broadly similar properties,
whose characteristics are such that their values are likely to be
affected by the same market factors, a full valuaton will be
performed on a rolling basis o cover all the properties over a five-
year cycle, together with an intenm valuation on the remaining four
fifths of the portfolio where it i3 likely that there has been a matenal
change In value

With the exception of freehold land, which 1s not depreciated,
depreciation on the cost or valuation of tangible fixed assets 18
charged evenly to wnte off the assets to therr residual value over
thesr estimated useful lives as follows

Freeho!d and long leasehold bulldings 35 to 50 years
Short leasehold butldings the term of each lease
Plant and aquipment 110 10 years

The Group's policy s to capitalise as tangibla fixed assets
computar software expenditure only in respect of mgjor systems
changes
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Impairment of fixed assets and goodwill

Fixed and intangible assets are assessed annually for imparrment
Impairment provisions are calculated by companng the net book
value of fixed asseis or goodwll with the higher of the net
realisable value and the value in use of those assets The value in
use 15 calculated using forecast nsk-adjusted discounted post-tax
cash flows over the economic Iife of the related fixed asset or
goodwll

Joint ventures and associates

The Group's share of the profits or losses of joint ventures and
associates are included in the Group profit and loss account on
the equity accounting basis The holding value of associates and
jornt ventures m the Group balance sheet 1s calculated by
reference to the Group's equity In the net assets, goodwill and
loans of such joint ventures and associates

Other investments

Other investments are stated at cost less provision for impairment
Impairment reviews are performed by the directors when there has
been an indication of potential tmpairment

Stock

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable valua
Cost of finished products and work in progress includes where
appropnate, direct labour and matenals and a proportion of factory
overheads Net realisable value s calculated, after taking into
account provisions for obsolescence, as the actual selling pnce,
net of trade discounts, less costs to completion and all related
marketing, seling and distnbution costs

Warranties

Prowision 15 made for the best estimate of the costs of making
good under warranty products sold before the balance sheet date,
and discounted where matenal

Onerous contracts

When a contract becomes onerous, provision is made for the best
estimate of the unavoidable losses that are expected to be
incurred under the remainder of the contract term

Property provisions

Provision 15 made for the best estmate of unavoidable future
lease payments, on a discounted basis where matenal when the
lease becomes onerous, net of amounts that can be reasonably
expected to be racoverad from subtenants to which the respective
property is expected to be sublet

Prowision 15 made for the best estmate of dilapidation costs, on a
discounted basis, at the date the cobligation anses The unwinding
of the discount 18 included within interast expense The provision IS
net of amounts recoverable n respect of dilapidation costs for
properhies that have been sublet to unrelated third parties

Deferred tax

Deferred tax 18 accounted for to recognise tming differences
between the recognition of gains and losses in the financial
statements and their recognition for tax purposes A deferred tax
hability 1s recognised if transachons or events resutt in the Group
having an obligation to pay more tax i future penods A deferred
tax asset 15 only recognised where transactions or events that
hava occurred before the balance sheet date give the Group the
nght to pay less tax in future, and it 1s considered reasonable to
forecast that there will be future profits against which the deferred
tax assets can be recovered Defermed tax balances are not
discounted with the exception of deferred tax in respect of pension
scheme tming differences

Share-based payments

The fair valus of share plans, where matenal, 15 recognised as an
aexpense in the Group profit and loss account over their expected
vesting penods The fair value of share plans 1s determined at the
date of the grant, taking into account any market based vesting
conditens attached to the award Non-market based vesting
conditons are taken into account in estmating the number of
awards that are likely to vest, these estimates are reviewed
regularly and the expense charge adjusted accordingly

Finance leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the nsks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee All other leases are classified as operating leases

Assets held under finance leases where the Group acts as the
lessor are presented as a receivable at an amount equal to the net
investment in the lease Rental payments received by the Group
under the finance leases are apportioned between the finance
charge and the reduction of the outstanding obhgation

The recognition of finance mcome s based on a pattern reflecting
a constant penodic rate of return on the Group's net investment in
the finance lease The finance charge from the lease Is recognised
within interest receivable n each accounting perod Rentals
relating to the reducton of the outstanding obligaton are
recognised through revenue over the term of the lease Narmal
selling iosses are racogrised through costs of sales on inception of
the iease

For assets held under finance leases when the Group acts as a
lasses, the capital element of the leasing commitment 18 shown as
an obligatron under finance leases The lease rentals are treated
as consisting of capital and interest elements The capital element
1s applied to reduce the outstanding obligatton and the interest
element 1s charged to the profit and loss account in proportion to
the reducing capital element

Operating leases
Operating lease rentals are charged against operatng profit as
Incurred

Finance costs

Costs mcurred in respect of obtaiming new debt nstruments are
capitaised and reported agamnst the respective debt within
abilities, and amorlised to the Group profit and loss account over
the term of the facility

Foreign currency

The profit and loss accounts of overseas activities are translated
into Sterling at average rates of exchange Batance sheetls are
transiated al the rate of exchange prevaling at the balance sheet
date Exchange differences ansing on the retranslation at closing
rates of the opening balance sheets of overseas actvities, together
with the year end adjustment to closing rates of profit and loss
accounts translated at average rates, are {aken to reserves

Exchange differences ansing in the normal course of trading and
on the translaton of monetary assets and liabilites are taken
through the Group profit and loss account Differences ansing on
the translation of foreign currency borrowings are taken directly to
reserves where thers 1s a comesponding exchange difference on
the translation of the related net investment
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Significant estimation techniques

The preparation of the financial statements requires management
to make estmates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and habiibes and disclosure of contingent
assets and habilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounis of income and expenditure in the reporting
penod Actual results could differ from those estimates Estmates
are pnncipally used when accounting for pension costs the
valuation of freehold land and bulldings, the useful economic lives
of fixed and intangible assets, prowisions and 1n certain instances,
In revenue recognition

Financial instruments

The Group uses vanous denvative financial instruments to reduce
exposure of foreign exchange nsks Authonsed instruments
mnclude forward currency contracts and cumency options The
Group also uses interest rate swaps and options o manage its
interest rate exposure

As permitted under the Standard, the Group has not adopted FRS
23 'The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates' and
therefore forward currency contracts used to hedge transaction
exposures are not revalued Transactions to hedge translation
exposures are revalued and the net unrealised difference taken to
trading profit All realised gains and losses are taken lo operating
profit

Currency option premia are recogmsed at thewr histoncal cost in
the Group balance sheet as other recevables At matunty, the
oplion premia together with any reahsed foreign exchange
differences on exercisa, are taken to operating profit

Interest rate option premia paid are recognised at thewr histoncal
cost in the Group balance sheet as other receivables Option
premia are taken to net interest payable spread over the interest
penod covered by the relevant options

Amounts payable or recewable in respect of nterest rate swap
agreemeants used to manage interest rate exposure are recognised
as adjustments to penodic interest expense over the duration of
the contracts
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2 Segmental reporting

It 1s the directors' jJudgement that the Group operates pnncipally in one business segment, that of distnbutton and legistics management

An analysis of turnover by location of exterrtal customer 15 as follows 2011 2010
£m £m
Continuing operations
United Kingdom 6210 5806
Other Eurcpe 145 0 1413
Rest of the world 162 9 151 6
Group tumover on continuing operations 9299 8735
Group tumover on discantinued operations (United Kingdom) 133 6 188 0
Group tumover 10635 10815
Share of joint ventures (United Kingdom} 690 595
Share of joint venture and associate (Other Europe} 80 89
Total tumover ncluding share of joint ventures and associate 1,140 5 1,129 9
The geographical analysis of turnover, {loss)/profit before tax and net assets by ongin 1s as follows
Group turmowver
2011 2010
£m £m
Continuing operations
United Kingdom 791 4 7513
Other Europe 730 655
Rest of the world 655 56 7
Total from continuing operations 929 9 8735
Share of joint ventures (United Kingdom) 690 585
Share of joint venture and associate (Other Europe) 80 89
Total from continuing operations (including joint ventures and associates) 1,006 9 941 9
Discontinued operations (United Kingdom) 133 6 188 0
1,140 5 1,129 9

{Loss)/profit before tax

M1

2010

£m £m
United Kingdom (32 1) {5 5}
Other Europa 65 63
Rest of the world 29 34
Total (before joint ventures and associate) {22 7) 42
Share of joint ventures (United Kingdom) 26 20
Share of joint venture and associate (Other Europe) 06 07
Total (including jont ventures and agsociates) {19 5} 6 9
Net assats
2011 2010
Total operations £im £m
United Kingdom 514 789
Other Europe 414 42 3
Rest of the world 171 16 0
1099 137 2
Net debt (15 8) (17 5)
Net pension deficit (151 5) {75 0)
(57 4) 47
3 Group operating profit/{loss)
2011 2010
c o DA Totad Contimurg Dlscontnued Total
operations operations operations operations
£m Em £m £m £m £m
Group tumover 9299 1338 1,083 5 8735 88 0 1,081 5
Cost of sales {694 8) {80 0) (774 8) (650 8) {115 0) (785 6)
Gross profit 2351 536 2887 2229 730 2959
Oistnbution costs (1232) {62 8) (188 0) (112 5) (816} (194 1)
Administrative expenses (86 5) {11 1) {97 6) (83 6) {13 0} (96 6)
Group operating profit/(loss) 254 {20 3) 51 268 {21 6} 52
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3 Group operating profit/(loss) {continued)

Group operating profit/(loss) is stated after charging / (crediting) 2011 2010
£m £m
Depreciation of owned tangible fixed assets 73 T4
Amortisation of goodwall and other intang:bles 04 15
Loss on the disposal of other tangible fixed assets 01 02
Operating leases - other 241 239
- ptant and machinery 92 102

Sublet income from land and buildings (3 2) (3 4)

Dunng the year, the Group (including its overseas subsidianes) obtaned the following serices from the Group's auditors at costs detailed below

2011 2010
£m £m
Audit services
Audit of Company and Group financial statements 01 01
Other services to the Group
Audit of the Company's subsidiary financial statements pursuant to legislation 04 04
Taxation services 0s 0s
Other services 06 01
Dunng the year the fees payable by the Group's associated pension schemes to the Group's auditors were £0 tm (2010 - £0 1m)
4 Exceptional items
2011 2010
Exceptional items - recognised after arrlving at operating profit/{loss) £m £m
Continuing operations
Profit on disposal of fixed assets (1) - 15
- 15
Discantinued operations
lLoss on disposal of businesses (i) (25 7) _
(25 7) -

(1) The profit on disposal of fixed assets related to the sale of freehold and leasehold properties in 2010 Due to the availability of capital losses for

tax purposes there was no {axation charge relating to the property disposals

(1) Dunng the year the Group incurred a foss on disposal of the trade and assets of the UK automotive branch network which were sold on 30

September 2011 £20 Om of costs associated with this sale were treated as allowable for corporation tax

5 Net interest payable 2011 2010
Total Total
£ £m
Interest payable and similar charges
Bank ioans and overdrafts (3 4) {27)
Share of jont ventures' nterest o1 {0 1)
Finance lease interast 0 1) (02)
Amortisation of issug costs on bank faciiies (07) (0 3)
(43) {3 3)
Interest recervable and similar iIncome 02 03
Net interest payable (41) (30)
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6 Net other finance credit

2Mm 2010
£m £m
Net finance credit on pension schemes (note 24)
Expected return on pension scheme assets 366 360
Intarest on pension scheme liabilites (34 5) {35 5)
21 05
Unwinding of discounting of provisions (note 18) {02) _(B1)
Net other finance credit 19 C4
7 Tax on (loss)/profit on ordinary activities
2011 2010
Total Total
a) Analysis of tax charge £m £m
Current tax
UK tax
UK comporation tax on profit ©2) (06)
Share of joint ventures' tax [ 08
Adjustments in respect of pnor penods - 01
Foreign tax
Corporatron taxes 24 22
Total cumment tax charge 27 23
Deferred tax
Ongination and reversal of tming differences (51) -
Effect of change in tax rate 17 08
Adjustments in respect of pnor penods {0 1) -
Representing
United Kingdom (33) 08
Foreign tax {03) ()]
Share of joint ventures o1 01
Total deferred tax (credit) / charge {3 5) 08
Tax (credit) / charge on (loss)/profit {0 8) 31
b} Factors affecting the current tax charge for the year
The tax assessed for the year 1s different o the standard effective rate of corporation tax in the UK of 26 5% 2011 2010
The differences are explained below £m £m
(Loss) / profit before tax (19 5§} 69
(Loss) / profit multplied by standard effective rate in the UK 26 §% (2010 - 28%) 52) 19
Effects of
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes {0 2} 10
Difference between depreciation and capital allowances 32 11
Other timing diffarences 56 (02
Pansion related items subject to defarred tax t1) (11
Recognition of deferred tax previously unprovided - (04)
Effect of foreign taxation rates 04 (01
Adusiments to tax charge in respect of pnor penods — 01
Total current tax charge for the year 2.7 23

¢) Factors that may affect future tax charges

The Group has generated significant UK capital Josses from disposals in previous years Such losses will only be avatlable to offset UK capital
profits ansing in future penods, such as gains ansing on the future sala of freehold properties, and it 1s expected to be some tme before these
losses are relleved Accordingly, the Group has not recogmised a deferred tax asset in respect of these losses As a consequence, the Group does

not expect to incur any significant tax charges in respect of capital gains within the foreseeable future

Deferred tax batances have been remeasured dunng the year as a result of the change in the UK main corporatron tax rate to 25%, which was

substantively enacted on 5 July 2011 and will be effective from 1 Apnl 2012

Further reductions to the UK corporation tax rate were announced in the March 2011 Budget The changes, which are expected to be enacted
separately each year, propose to reduce the rate by 1% per annum to 23% by 1 Apnl 2014 The changes had not been substantively enacted at the

balance sheet date and, therefore, are not recognised in thase financial statements

Each 1% reduction in the rate of UK corporaton tax, if substantively enacted, would reduce the 2011 deferred lax asset by £3 1m
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8 Employees Group Group Company Company
2011 2010 2011 2010

Employee costs £m £m £m £m
Wages and salanes 2121 1991 18 18
Social secunty costs 201 195 02 02
Pension costs (note 24) B5 62 - -
2387 224 8 20 20

Group Group

2011 2010

Average monthly number of employees (including directors) Number Number
Direct production 747 754
Indirect production and warehousing 3,175 2,873
Sales, marketing and admerustration 4.611 4,860
8,533 8,487

The average monthly number of employees in the Company dunng the year was seven (2010 - seven)

9 Directors’ emotuments

The aggregate emotuments of the directors dunng the year totalled £2,915,292 (2010 - £2,298,000) which ncludes payments to directors of
£496,807 (2010 - £457,000) 10 lieu of the Group making contnbutions to the defined contrbution pension scheme (a money purchase scheme) No
directors (2010 - nil) accrued retremant benefits under a defined benefit scheme or under a money purchase scheme The Group did not make any
contnbutions to money purchase pension schemes in respect of the Company’s directars dunng the year (2010 - £ml) The highest paid director
received emoluments dunng the year as follows

2011 2010

£ £
Salary, bonus and benefits in kind 939,000 641,000
Payment in liau of Group penston contnbutions (see below) 219,000 189,000
Aggregate emoluments of highest paid director 1,158,000 830,000

At the end of 2005, the highest paid director gave up his nights to further accrual under a defined benefit scheme and the Group agreed to make
broadly equivalent contnbutions under defined contnbution ammangements which commenced on 1 January 2006 However, following the change in
the legislation and tax regime for pensions on & Apnl 2006, it could have been disadvantageous for certain directors, including the highest paid
director, «f the Group had contnued to make contnbutions to therr defined contnbution scheme account As a result, the Group agreed with the
directors to pay them a monthly sum instead these payments are being made at a leve! where the Group 1s In 2 no better or worse position than if
the contnbutions had been made No payments have been made tn 2011 to defined contnbution arrangements in respect of the highest paid
director (2010 - nd)

The Chairman received fees under a contract for services of £55,600 in the year (2010 - £55,600) plus expenses Fees of £80,000 (2010 - £80,000)
were paid in the year in respect of the other two (2010 - two) non-exscutive directors that served during the year

Dunng the year, no share options were granted to directors of the Company (2010 - 250,000 shares at 45p per share) Dunng the year no options
over shares in Unipart Group of Companies Limited were exercised by the directors (2010 - none)

10 Intangible assets

Goodwill  Licences / Otner Total
£m £m £m

Cost
At 1 January 2011 1817 09 182 6
Transfers - 01 01
Disposals (160 4) - {160 4)
At 31 December 2011 213 10 223
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2011 1804 Qs 1812
Charge for the year 03 01 04
Disposals {160 4) - {160 4)
At 31 Dacember 2011 203 09 212
Net book amount
At 31 Decamber 2041 10 01 11
At 31 December 2010 13 01 14

Following the disposal of the UK autornotive branch network goodwill on acquisition of £160 4m was wntten off which had been fully imparrad in
pnor penods
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11 Tangble fixed assets Land & buldings
Long Short Plant and
Freehold hold machunery Total
£m £m £m £m Em

Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2011 407 31 72 76 4 127 4
Additicns - - 09 3sa 47
Revaluation {1 8) - - - (18)
Disposals (0 4) - {4 5) (34 1) (39 0)
Exchange adjusiment (0 2) - - (0 2) (04)
At 31 December 2011 83 31 36 459 90 9
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2011 64 16 48 56 8 696
Charge for the year 08 01 06 58 73
Ravaluation 12) - - - (12)
Disposals {a1) - 29) (26 2) {29 2)
Exchange adjustment (0 1) - - (0 4) (0 5)
At 31 December 2011 58 17 25 360 46 0
Net book amount
At 31 December 2011 325 14 11 99 449
At 31 December 2010 343 15 24 19 6 578

Included wathin the balance of accumulated depreciation at 1 January 2011 1s an amount of £2 Om relating to iImpairments of pnar penods The
impaiment charges had been made to raduce the assets of certain operatons within the Group to therr calculated recoverable valus Mo
impairment charge has been made in the year (2010 - £nll) The assets were sold on 30 September 2011 as part of the sate of the trade and
assets of the UK automotive branch network An amount of £nil relating to previcus impairments 1s included within the balance of accumulated
depreciation at 31 December 2011

if the Group's freehold land and buildings bad not been revalued, their net book value would have been 2011 2010

£m £m
Cost 210 213
Accumulated depreciation 8.3) (7 9}
Closing net book amount 127 134

All of the freehold land and butldings were valued as at 31 Decamber 2005 on the basis of existing use at an aggregate value of £28 Om At 31
December 2011 some of the portfolio of properties were revalued as part of the five-year cycle on the basis of existing use and intenm valuations
wers performed on some of the properties giving a total aggregate value of £32 Sm {2010 - £34 3m)

Certain of the freehold properties, including overseas properbies, were valued by extemal valuers, Edwards Symmons & Partners, Carter Jonas,
DTZ and DTZ Zadelhoff all baing qualified valuers and members of the Royal Insttution of Chartered Surveyors {RICS) or egquivalent professional
bodigs in the case of the overseas valuars The remawung properties, which consist of broadly simitar propertias, were valued by quabfied
Chartered Surveyors, being members of RICS, who are employees of the Unipart Group Property Department The aggregate value of the
valuations performed by the internal surveyors was £2 5m (2010 - £2 5m) resulting in a revaluation reserva of £0 5m (2010 - £0 5m)

All valuations were carmed out in accordance with the RICS Appraisal and Valuation Standards The internal valuations were subject to review by
DTZ

No deferred tax 1s recogrused on the revaluation of fixed assets (2010 - £nil)
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12 Investments

{a) Investments in joint ventures - Group Shame of
net asseats Loans Total
£m £m £m
At 1 January 2011 79 20 99
Profit for the financial year 16 - 16
Repayment of loan notes receivable - {0 5) (05)
At 31 December 2041 85 15 10

The Group's interests in its princtpal jont ventures are 50% of the ordinary shares of each of Kautex Unipart Limited Unipart Eberspacher Exhaust
Systems Limited and Van Wezel Austna GmbH The iean 15 from Uripart Group of Companies Limited to Kautex Unipart Limited and interest 1s
charged at 5% per annum The Group provides certain administrative services to its joint ventures, the transactions being disclosed in note 26

{b) Investments in associate and other investments - Group

Other Assocated
investments undertaking Total
£m £m £m
Caost and net book amount
At 1 January 2011 - 21 21
Additions 211 - 211
Share of profits retained - 01 01
At 31 December 2011 211 22 233

Associated undertaling represents the Group's 29% ordinary shareholding of ACI Aute Components international SRO which has been included in
the consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting Other investments include a 49 9% shareholding in Water Newco
Holdings Limited obtained as part of the sale of the trade and assets of the UK automotive branch network This has been treated as a trade
investment as, due to the compositton of the board and voting nghts on key matters, the Group does not exercise significant influence over the
operating and finanaal policies under the constitutional documents of this entity

{c) Investments in subsidianes and joint ventures - Company

Subsidiaries Joint ventures Total
Shares Shares Loans
£m £m £m £m

Cost
At 1 January 2011 720 58 20 798
Repayment of loan notes recevable - - (0 5) (0 5)
At 31 December 2011 720 58 15 793
Provisions
At 1 January 2011 - - - -
Impairment 2090 - - 20 0
At 31 December 2011 200 - - 200
Net book amount
At 31 Decamber 2011 520 58 15 59 3
At 31 December 2010 720 58 20 798

Details of the pnncipal undertakings in the Group and the nvestments of the Company are shown In note 27 During the year the Company
recerved a repayment of £0 Sm (2010 - £1 3m) in respect of loans to Kautex Unipart Limited, a joint venture company and the investment in Unipart
Service Company Holdings Limited (formery Unipart Automotive Holdings Limited) was impaired down to nid value

The directors believe that the carrying value of the investments i3 supported by either therr underlying net assets or their value in use

13 Stock
on 200
£m £m
Raw matenals and consumables 52 43
Work in progress 25 22
Finished goods and goods for resale 1029 135 9

110 6 142 4
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14 Debtors Group Group [+ ¥ C
2011 2010 2011 2010
£m £m £m £m
{a) Amounts falling due within one year
Trade debtors and bills recevable 96 3 1163 - -
Amounts owed by Group undertakings - - 149 14
Amounts owed by joint ventures 05 10 - -
Other debtors 104 14 73 73
Amounts recevable under finance lease {u) 07 07 - -
Prepayments and accrued income 255 278 - -
13134 156 2 22 a7
(b) Amounts falling due after more than one year
Cefarred tax (i) 260 225 21 11
Amounts receivable under finance lease {n) 31 38 - -
Prepayments and accrued income 03 04 - -
29 4 267 21 11

Amounts due from Group undertakings and Jjoint ventures are unsecured and have no fixed repayment date Certan amounts due from Group

undertakings and joint ventures bear interest

inciuded in the other debtors of the Group and the Company 1s £7 3m owed by the Group Share Trust (2010 - £7 3m) which the Directors beheve s

recoveérable as a result of the equity interest in the Company held by the Trust

(1) Deferred tax Group Group Company Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

£m £m £m £m
Accelerated capital allowances 16 1 135 - -
Trading losses and iming differences 99 90 21 i1
Deferred tax asset included within debtars 260 225 21 11
Related deferred tax asset included within the net penston deficit (note 24) 505 277 - -
765 502 21 11

The Group and the Company does not recognise an asset in respect of UK capital losses generated from disposals in previous years as such
lossas will only be avaiable to offset UK capital profits ansing in future penods and it 1s expected to be some time before these losses can be
relleved In addition, the Group has not recogrused an asset of £5 7m {2010 - £2 7m) in respect of trading losses of subsidianes where it 1s unhkely

that these losses will be utthsed in the foreseeable future

Group Group Company Compary

2011 2010 2011 2010

£m £m £m £m
Al 1 January 502 626 11 cg
Amounts credited/{charged) to the profit and loss account 35 {08} 10 02
Amounts creditedf{charged) to the statement of total recognised gains and losses 228 (11 6} - -
At 31 December 76 5 502 21 11

Representing

Deferred tax asset included within debtors 260 225 21 11
Related deferred tax asset ncluded wathin the net pension deficit {note 24) 505 277 -
76 5 502 21 11

(i) Amounts recaivable under finance leases compnses Group Group Company Company

011 2010 2011 2010

Total amounts receivable £m £m £m £m
Within 1 year o7 07 - -
Between 2 - 5 years 31 38 - -
as 45 - -
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15 Creditors amounts falling due within one year Group Group Comnpany Company

2011 mo 2011 2010

£€m £m £m £m

Bank loans and overdrafts (note 17) 57 az - -
Trade creditors 867 1128 - -
Amounts owing to other Group undertakings - - 110 124
Amounts owing to joint ventures o1 03 - -
Corporation tax 05 07 03 -
Other taxes and social secunty costs 162 168 - -
Other creditors 209 239 - -
Finance leases (note 16 (1)) 10 09 - -
Accruals and deferred mcome 97 9 80 3 87 06
2290 238 9 200 130

Amounts due to Group undertakings and joint veniures are
underiakings and joint ventures bear inlerest

unsecured and have no fixed repayment date

Certain amounts due to Group

16 Creditors amounts falling due after more than one year Group Group Company Compary
2011 2010 2011 2010
£m £m £m £m
Bank loans {rnote 17) 330 371 - -
Other creditors 03 - - -
Amounts owing to other Group undertakings - - 132 132
Finance leases (1} 06 14 - -
Accruals and deferred ncome 04 - - -
343 385 132 132
Group Group
{1) Finance leases 2011 2010
Future muumum payments under finance leases are as follows £m £m
Within one year 10 09
In more than one year, but not mora than five years 07 14
Total before finance charges 17 23
Less financa charges included above @1 (02)
Total due under finance leases 16 21
17 Borrowings Group Group
2011 2010
£m £m
Amounts due within one year
Bank overdrafts 11 -
Term and credit faciity 46 32
57 32
Amounts due after more than one year
Term and credit faciity committed untl November 2013 184 178
Term and credit faciity committed until March 2018 68 -
Woarking capital facility commutted until December 2015 78 193
330 371

The bank loans and overdrafts bear interest based on LIBOR and are secured by fixed and floating charges over certain of the Group's assets The
term and credit facility 15 stated net of unamortised 1Ssue costs of £0 3m {2010 - £0€m) The workung capita! facility is stated net of unamortised
i1ssue costs of £0 B (2010 - £0 4m) These costs are allocated to the Group profit and loss account over the terms of the respective facilities at a

constant rate

The Group has vanous bomowings facilities available Following a refinancing in the year the pnnaipal facility 1s a working capital faciity of up to
£68 0m (2010 - £102 Gm) which 13 committed until December 2015 In addition, there 1s a revolving facility of up to £30m (2010 - £30m) commutted
untl November 2013, a term and credit faciity of £6 7m at 3t December 2011, repayable in £0 8m instalments at the end of each quarter until

November 2013 and a term loan of €10m (2010 - £nil), repayable in £0 4m instalments at the end of each quarter untl March 2018
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18 Provisions for liabilittes

Group
Warmranties Proparty Total
Em £m £m
At 1 January 2011 03 219 222
Utilised In the year - ©8) (0 8)
Released in the year - 04) ©4)
Unwinding of discount - {0 2) (02}
At 31 Decomber 2011 03 205 208

Warranty

The Group supplies product to customers on which it offers a warranty for a penod of up to three years The cost of warranties on sales made pnor
to the year end has been estimated based on past expenence of warranty settiements [t is anticipated that the existing provision will be utiised
within the next one to two years

Property

The property provision s In respect of contractual obligations pnmanly in relaton to onerous leases on vacant properties and in relaton to
dilapdations The charge in respect of the unwinding of disccunting of provisions is included in net other finance charge (note 8) These provisions
are expectad o be fully utiised at the end of the respective lgases which vary between 1 and 50 years

19 Called up share capital

The share capital compnses 'A', "D’ and '€ Ordinary shares of ¥p each and each share, wiespective of ¢lass, has the same dimvidend entitiernent
and has one vote at a general meeting On a return of capital on iquidation or ctherwsa, the assets of the Company available for distnbution
amongst shareholders shall be applied in paying pro-rata to the holders of the A’ Ordinary shares the sum of ¥:p per share and to the holders of tha
'D' Ordinary shares and the 'E' Ordinary shares the sum of 1p per share and thereafter, pro-rata to the nominal value of shares held by them

A’ Ordinary ‘D" Ordinary E' Ordinary Total Ordinary
shares shares sharas shares
Allotted, called up and fully paid share capital (number of shares)
At 31 December 2011 million 723 70 23 816
At 31 Decambaer 2010 rmilhon 722 70 24 816
Allotted, called up and fully paid share capital
At 31 December 2011 £m 04 - - 04
At 31 December 2010 £m 04 - - 04

The sharehclders with over 5% of the 1ssued share capital at 31 December 2011 are UGC Share Trustees Limited, Electra Pnivate Equity Partners
Scotland, UGC Penston Shareholdings Limited ("UGCPSL"), Mr JM Neill, 31 pic and Standard Life  No indindual shareholder i1s able to exercise
control and as a result, the directors do not consider there to be an ultimate controlling party

Pursuant to the Company's Articles of Associaton, certan 'E' Ordinary shares, which wera transferred dunng the Company’s share dealing pencd
in the financial year, were converted to ‘A’ Ordinary shares upon transfer

The UGCPSL shareholding i1s held on behalf of the Unipart Group Pension Scheme and the Unipart Group Retirement Benefits Scheme The
schemes retain the economic interest in the shares {so thay will benefit directly from any increase in ther value and will receive any dividends pad
by the Company on those shares), however they do not actually hold the shares in their own names and they are not able to exercise any of the
vohing nghts an them pror to any kquidity oppartunity (as defined in an agreement batween UGCPSL and tha schemas)

UGCPSL 1s subject to contractual controls including as to how and when it exercises the voting nghts attached to the shares it holds, under which it
must act as required by the Board of Unipart Group of Companies Limited, and only with the approval of the Company's 'D' shareholders and the
majonty of the Company's institutional investors As these arrangements prevent the Group from having de facto control over UGCPSL, it 1s not
congydered appropnate to consolidate UGCPSL in the Group's financial statements
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20 Share option schemes

The Group Shars Trust has granted options to employees over a number of shares which have already been 1ssued and are owned by the Group
Share Trust It s not congtdered appropnate to consolidate the Group Share Trust in the Group's financial statements due to the terms of the Trust
deeds goveming the Group Share Trust, which prevent the Group from having de facto control over the trust.

The vesting requiremeants associated with the share options are a combination of cntena based on financial and personal performances The share
options 1ssued since November 2002 have all been 1ssued at an exercise prnice of 45p per share and have a vesting penod of 3 years and a total
option length of 10 years Afl options exercised are tc be settled with ordinary shares of the Company

No share-based payment charge has been recognised in relation to the cptions 1ssued since November 2002 on the basis that any charge would be
immatenal At the date the options were granted, the exercise pnce was greater than the share valuation

21 Raserves
Profit Share Capital

and loss premum redemption Revaluation Minonty

resefve account resarva raserve interasts
Group £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2011 69 44 115 209 06
(Loss)profit for the financial year {18 2) - - B 05
Revaluations of freehold land and buildings in year - - - (0 6) -
Transfer from revaluabion reserve to profit and loss reserve 05 - - (0 5) -
Actuanal loss recognised on pension schemes (104 7) - - - -
Deferred tax relating to actuanal loss on pensien schemes 228 - - - R
Current tax relating to actuanal loss on penston schames 03 - - - -
Actuanal loss recognised on joint ventures' pension schemes {03) - - - -
Foreign exchange adjustments (04) - - - -
Dividends paid o minonty shareholders - - - - {0 5)
At 31 December 2011 (94 1) 44 115 198 06
Net pension deficit 1515
Profit and loss reserve excluding pension defien 57 4

The cumulative amount of goodwill wntten off directly to reserves prior to the implementation of FRS 10, 'Goodwill and intangible assets’, 1s £17 6m
(2010 - £17 6m) 1n respect of the acquisition of businesses

The £0 5m transferred between the profit and loss reserve and the revaluation reserve 1s compnsed of £0 4m addittonal depreciation due to the
revaluation of property and £0 1m profit on sale of property in the year tn the reported result for the year no profit has been realised on the sale of
property when comparnng proceeds ta the revalued amount Had the property not been revalued, a profit on disposal of £0 1m would have been
raalised and this has been shown in the note of Group histoncal cost profits and iosses

Profit and Share Capital

loss premium redemphion

rasarve account resevve

Caompany 25 £m £m
At 1 January 2011 577 44 "5
Loss for the year __(143) - -
At 31 December 2011 434 44 115

The Company has not presented i{s own profit and loss account as permitted by Section 408 (3) of the Companies Act 2006 The Company's loss
for the financial year was £14 3m (2010 - loss of £3 6m)

22 Reconciliation of movements tn total shareholders’ funds

Group Group Company Company

011 00 0M 2010

Em £m £m £m

(Loss)/profit for the financial year {19 2) 33 (14 3) (36}
Other recognised gans and losses relating to the year (net) {82 9) 252 - -
Movements in total shareholders’ funds (1021) 285 (14 3) (36)
At 1 January 44 1 156 740 776

At 31 Dacember {58 0) 441 597 740
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23 Notes to the cash flow statement

2011 2010
{a) Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash flow from operating activities £m £m
Operating profit 51 52
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets T3 74
Amortisation of goodwill and other intangibles 04 15
Difference between pension service charge and cash contnbutions 33) (3 1)
Loss on the disposal of fixed assets o1 02
Movement in stocks 59 (6 4)
Movement in debtors {59 (6 8)
Movement in creditors 04 139
Movement in provisions (14) (30)
Net cash inflow from operating actvities {32) 89

Included in the cash flow statement 1 an outflow of £25 1m relating to net operating cashflows for the discontinued operations resulted pnor to
disposal, an outflow of £4 3m in respect of net relums on mvestment and senoing of finance, an outfiow of EO 9m for capital expendiure and an

nflow of £17 9m n respect of disposal of businesses

Non-cash

2010 Cashfiow mavements 2M1
Ab) Analysis of net debt £m Em £ £€m
Cash 728 18 ©1 245
Overdrafts - (1 - a1
228 07 o1 23 4
Debt due within a year (32 (12} (02) 48)
Debt dus after one year (37 1) 37 04 (330)
Finance leases due within 1 year 09 (o1 - 1o
Finance leases due after 1 year {14) 08 - (0 6)
{42 6) 32 02 (39 2)
Total {19 8) 39 01 (15 8)

Non-cash movernents relate to captahsation and amortisation of 1ssue costs and foreign exchange movements

{c}) Sale of businesses

Net assets disposed

UK automotive
branch network

£m
Fixed assets 92
Cash 25
Stock 375
Debtors 295
Creditors {36 3)
424
Costs of disposal 311
Loss on disposal {1) {25 7)
478
Satisfiad by
Shares 211
Cash 267

{1) The sale of the UK automotive branch network was completed on 30 September 2011 Consideratron was recerved in full in 2011 and is reflected
n the cash flow statement for the current year Some of the costs were paid in 2011, with the remaining costs expected to be paid in future years

The net cash inflow from disposal of businesses is shown below

£Em
Gash proceeds received on sale of businesses 267
Cash transferred on disposal of business {2 5)
Associated costs incurred and paid in 2011 {6 3}

179
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24 Pension commitments

The Group operates several pension schemes in the United Kingdom, the largest being the Unipart Group Pension Scheme and the Unipart Group
Retirement Benefits Scheme The assets of these pension schemes are held separately from those of the Group in trustes administered funds The
schemes are pnncipally funded defined benefit schemes Contnbutions are assessed in accordance with the advice of an independent qualified
actuary using the projected unit method, where applicable, and as agreed with the Trustees of the schemes Contnbutions are payable in
accordance with the long term schedules of contnbutions agreed with the Trustees of the pension schemes and these schedules will be reviewed In
the hght of the results of the naxt actuanal valuatons They may then be vaned with the agreement of the Trustees

With effect from 31 December 2005, defined benefit accrual ceased in the Unipart Group Pension Scheme and the Urupart Group Retirement
Benefits Scheme and members had the option of continuing to accrue benefits under new defined coninbution sections of the schemes

Total contnbutions made n the year to defined contnbution sections of these schemes wera £4 3m (2010 - £3 7m) At the year end there was an
accryal for unpaid pension contnbutions of £0 3m (2010 - £0 4m)

The latest available formal actuanal valuations of the Unipart Group Pension Scheme end the Unipart Group Retrement Banefits Schema were
carmed out as at 31 January 2010 by AON Hewitt Limited based on this data The value of the schemes' habilities have been updated by AON
Hewntt Limited to assess the liabilites of the schemes at 31 December 2011 for the purposes of FRS 17 Scheme assets are stated at ther markst
value at 31 December 2011

The disclosures for all of the Group's defined benefit arangements are aggregated below As with previous years, the Company has accounted for
contnbutions into the defined benefit sections as if the scheme were a defined contnbution scheme, as the Company 18 unable i identify its share
of the undertying assets and habiities in the schemes The Company cannot identify its share of assets and labilites because the two pension
schemes operated by the Group are managed on a total basis with neither the liabilites nor the assets segregated between members who have
worked for the Company and other Group subsidianes which have had employees in the defined benefit sections The Company will be expected
te continue its contnbutions based on the rasults of the tnennial agtuanal valuation The amount of such contnbutions will depend on the actual
actuanal expenence and the investment returns achieved Estimated contnbutions to be patd into the schemes i the coming year are £1 5m

The key financial and other assumptions used to calculate the scheme labilities are 2011 2010
Rate of general increase in salanes 278% 3 16%
Rate of increase in pensions th paymeant 263% 2 90%
Discount rate 518% 577%
RPI Inflakon assumption 278% 316%
CPI Inflaton assumption 193% 231%

As part of the 2010 trenmial valuation of the main Group schemes, a review of mortalty for scheme members was conducted and the demographic
assurmnptions used in assessing the FRS 17 habilittes reflect this review For these schemes, the foliowing life expectancies have been used

Retirement in this year for male pensioners at age 65 21 years
Retirement 1n 2031 for male pensioners at age 65 22 years
Retrement in this year for female pensioners at age 65 24 years
Retrement in 2031 for female pensioners at age 65 26 years

Consistent mortality tables for future famale pensioners have been used The mortality assumptions used in the valuation of the defined benafit
pension habiites of the Group's UK schemes have been calculated by adjusting the standard morality tables to reflect the charactenstics of the
workforce

In line with pnor years, it has been assumed that at retirement, members commute some of therr pension for cash, being some three-quarters of
the maxamum amount of the commutable pension, based on the schemes' current commutation factors

Minor changes in key assumptions may have a matenal impact on the quantum of the pension deficit

The assets in the schemes and the expected ratas of return were Long-term rate Long-term rata
of expacted 2011 of expactad 2010
etum £m retum £m
Equities f Absolute retum funds 7 5% 4025 8 7% 4322
Government bonds 30% 48 4 2% 47
Corporate bonds 40% 03 52% 40
Property / Infrastructure 6 0% 508 72% 519
Qther 34% 336 4 6% 442
Total market value of assets 4920 5370
Present valus of funded pension plans' habiities (693 9) (639 8)
Deficit in funded ptans (201 9) (1026}
Liability for unfunded pension plans {0 1)} 01)
Total deficit in plans {202 0) (1027)
Related deferred tax asset 50 5 277

Net pension deficit {151 5} {75 0)
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24 Pension commitments {continued)

The expected returm on scherme assets s determined by considenng the expected retumns available on the assets underlying the current investment
policy Expected yields on fixed interest investments are based on gross redemption yields at the balance sheet date Expected returmns on equity
investments reflect long-term real rates of retum expenenced in the respective markets

The movements in the present value of scheme habilihes dunng the year were 2011 2010
£m £m
Liabiites at 1 January {639 6) {646 9)
Current service cost 22) {(25)
Interest cost (34 5) (355}
Contnbutions by members 07) {0 8)
Settlements - -
Benefits pad 267 255
Actuanal {loss)/gain (43 3) 242
Members share (0 3) {3 6)
Liabilities at 31 December {693 9) (639 6)
The movements in the fair value of scheme assets 1n plans duning the year were 2011 2010
£m £m
Assets at 1 January 5370 5033
Expected return on scheme asgsets 366 360
Actuanal {loss)/gain {61 4) 132
Benefits paid (26 T) (255)
Contnbutions by members and company 62 B84
Members share 03 36
Assets at 31 December 4920 5370

Scheme assets include a holding of shares in the Company valued at £4 9m (2010 - £4 8m) Scheme assets do not include any property occupied
by any members of the Group The actual retum on scheme assats in the year was a loss of £23 7m (2010 - gain £E48 Om)

The performance statements include the following amounts 2011 2010
£m £m
Amounts charged to operating profit / {loss)
Current service cost (z22) (2 5)
Settlements - -
22 (25)
Defined contnbution schemes {4 3) (37)
Total operating charge {6 5) (6 2)
Analysis of amount credited to net other finance income
Expected return on pension scheme assets 366 360
Interast on pension schemne habilihes (34 5) {35 5}
Net retumn 21 05
Amounts ingluded within the Group statement of total recognised gains and losses
Actual retum less expected return on pension scheme assets {614) 132
Expenence gains and losses ansing on the scheme hablities (57) 83
Changes in assumptions undertying the present value of the scheme habilities {37 6) 158
Actuanal {loss)gain recognised in the Group statement of total recognised gaing and losses (104 7) a7 3
History of experience gains and losses Year anded Yaar ended Year endad Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2011 2610 2009 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m £m
Lrabilies (693 9) (639 6) (646 9) (518 6) (614 2)
Plan assets 4520 5370 503 3 463 3 585 6
Scheme deficit (201 9) (102 6) (143 6) (55 3) (28 6)
Expenence gains and iosses on scheme assets (614) 132 268 (137 1) (17 8)
BExpenence gatns and losses an scheme hatilthes &N 83 21 (2 4) (en
Actuanal (loss)gain recogrused In the Group statement of (104 7) 373 (81 3) (36 2) 2386

total recogrsed gains and losses
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25 Commitments

(a) Capital commitments Group Group
2011 2010
£m £m

Contracted as at the year end but not prowided for in the financial statements - 01

The Company had no capital commitments at 31 December 2011 (2010 - £nil)

(b) Contingent liabilitres and financial commitmaents Group Group Company Company
2011 2010 2011 2010
£m £m Em £m

Guarantess for export trading and foan faciites a3 58 33 33

Under the Group's banking arrangements, the Company, together with certain of its subsidiary undertakings, has given secunty, by way of fixed and
fioating charges over certain assets, to guarantee bank loans provided to the Group The amount guaranteed by the Company cutstanding at 31
December 2011 was £3 0m (2010 - £5 2m) Refer to note 17 for further details

{c) Operating leas® commitments

Land and Land and

bulldings buitdings Other Gthaer

2011 2010 2011 2010

Group £m £ £m £

Annual amounts payable on agreements expting

- within one year 24 23 24 41
- aftar one year but within five years 123 126 25 25
- after five years 145 13 6 - -
292 285 49 X

The Company had no operating lease commitments at 31 December 2011 (2010 - £nil)

26 Related party transactions

The Group has taken the exemption avaitable under FRS 8, ‘Related party disclosures’, from disclosing related party transactions between entihes
within the Group The Group and its joint ventures provide certain services on behalf of each other which involve making payments on each other's
behalf Duning the year, the total payments made on behalf of Kautex Unipart Limited amounted to £7 5m (2010 - £6 5m) and amounts owed to the
Group at 31 December 2011 were £0 1m (2010 - £0 2m) as reported in note 13(a) Total payments made by Kautex Unipart Limited on beha!f of
the Group amounted to £¢ 1m (2010 - £nl) and in addiion, an amount of £1 Sm was owed to the Group at 31 Decembar 2011 under a formal loan
agreament beanng interest of 5% per annum as reported In note 11{a) (2010 - £2 Om)

Dunng the year, tha total payments made on behalf of Unipart Eberspdcher Exhaust Systems Limited amounted to £2 8m (2010 - £2 3m} and
amounts owed to the Group at 31 December 2011 wera £0 4m (2010 - £0 8m) as reported in note 13(a) The total payments made by Unipart
Eberspiicher Exhaust Systems Limited on behall of the Group amounted to £0 7m (2010 - £0 8m) and amounts owed to Unipart Eberspacher
Exhaust Systems Limited by the Group were £0 1m {2010 - £0 3m)
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27 Principal Group undertakings

Country of incorporation and
operation

Subsidiary undertakings

At the year end, the Group's pnncipal subsidiary undertakings were as sel out below with those directly held by the Company being indicated by (1)

Unless otherwse stated, the holdings are 100% of the voling nghts and ordinary shares

Distribution and logistics management
Europe, Middls East and Africa

Serck Services (Bahrain) EC Bahrain
Van Weze! Autoparts NV Belgium
Unipart NV Belgium
E W {Holdings) Limited England
Unipart Service Company Lirmited {formerly Unipart Automotive Limited) England
Unipart Rail Limited England
Unipart Exports Limited England
Untpart Group Limited (1} England
Unipart Logrstics Limited England
Unipart North Amenca Limited England
Unipart Rail Logistics Linited Englang
Unipart Leisure and Manne Limited England
Unipart Secunty Solutions Limited England
Unipart Merchandise Limited England
Unipart DCM Service GmbH Germany
Van Wezal GmbH Germany
Intertruck Deutschland GmbH Germany
Intertruck Benelux BV Netherlands
Van Wezel Nederland BV Netherlands
Serck Services (Oman) LLC (49%) () Oman
UL Logistics PTY Ltd South Afnca
Unipart Services Spain S L Spamn
Intertruck Holding Limited UAE
Intertruck MENA L L C (W) UAE
Serck Services {Gulf) Limited (49%) () UAE
Serck Services Company LLC (49%) {11} UAE
Americas and Rest of the World

Urupant Group Australia PTY Limited Australia
Unipart Services Canada Inc Canada
Unipart Logisties (Suzhou) Trading Co , Limited China
Umipant (Suzhou) Logisics Co, Limited China
Unipart Kabushiki Kaisha Japan
Unipart Services India Pnvate Limited Indta
Unipart Korea Yuhan Hoesa Korea

U Logistics QGO Russia
Unipart Services America Inc USA
Serck Sernces Inc usAa
Group vehicle and property holding companies

Gresty Road 2005 Holdings Limited England
Gresty Road Supplies Limited England
Unipart Fleet Servicas Limited England
UGC Properties Limited {1} England
Intermediate holding companies

Uripart Rail Heldings Limited (1) England
Untpart Intemational Holdings Limited England
UGC Holdings BV Netherlands

Joint ventures and associates

The Group's pnnaipal interasts i joint ventures and associates are set out below, those held directly by the Company being indicated by (1) Unless

otherwise stated, the holdings are 50% of the voting nghts and shares

Distribution and logistics management

Van Wezel Austna GmbH Austna

ACI Auto Components Intemational SRO (29%) Czech Republic
Manufacture of automotive components

Kautex Unipart Limited (1) England
Unipart Eberspacher Exhaust Systems Limitad (1) England

{1) Thess comparnies have been treated as subsichanes under saction 1162(4) of the Companies Act 2006 The investments are hetd for the long
term and the Group's management takes an active role in the operational and strategic management of these companies These operations are
effectively controlled by the Group with a dominant influence being exaraised over their actvities

As well as those undertakings listed above, within the European Unicn the Group also has branches in Belgium, France, Itaty and Spain
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